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RN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

Petitioner,

CERTIFICATE OF #

- against - PROBABLE CAUSE

HAROLD J. SMITH, Superintendent, 764Civ 534
Attica Correctional Facility,

Upon
in this case,
denying petitioner Butler's application for a writ of
habeas corpus, and upon this court's determination that
petitioner's application Is (1€
the court had jurisdiction) be denied, a certificate of
probabl i lereby denied on the ground that no

substantial questions of law are presented in t!

Dated: New York, New York

September 14, 1976.




STATE OF NEW YORK )
COUNTY OF WYOMING )

"“ Vel {, being duly sworm,
deposes and says, that on the Z° day of

1976, he served the within APPLICATION F CERTIFICATE OF
PROBABLE CAUSE, LEAVE TO APPEAL IN FORMA PAUPERIS: AFFIDAVIT
OF SERVICE:
on the U.8. Court of Appeals and the Attorney General,
by enclosing a true copy thereof in a securely sealed postage
paid wrapper and depositing the same in a post office béx
regularly maintained by the United States Government at Attica
Correctional Facility Box 149, Attica, New York 14011 directed to
said:

United States Court of Appeals Attorney General of the
For the Second Circuit State of New York
U.S. Court House, Foley Square 2 World Trade Center
New York, New York 10007 New York, New York 10047
that being the address within the State designated by t

purpose on the proceding papers in this action.

Swarn to before me

25 day of g 1976
(L ik Ve

NOTAK{ PUBLIC

ATHORYC. it




STATES DISTRICT

DISIRICT

NORMAN BUTLER, Petitioner

Action Numbexr

v

HAROLD J. SMITH, Superintendent : i3
Attica Correctional Facility 76 CIV 534

UILTED ST
FOR 18 §

Notice is hereby given that _ Norman Butler

Ne [ Bhived sbau S3ureE of
zhove named, hereby appeals to the United States Court of
cais for ithe Seccad Siveuil from th decision and order

of U.S.D.C.-S.D.N.Y. ( KNAPP J.) dismissing his

" Sept 22, 1976

petition for a writ of habeas corpus on 7/26/76
NORMAN BUTLER

Z
#24091 - 5

BOX 149 J. BLUM
ATTICA N.Y. 14011 *" Deputy Pro S2 Clerk.-

ATTORNEY GENERAL

STATE OF NEW YORK

TWO WORLD TRADE CENTER
NEW YORK, N.Y. 10047




UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

NORMAN BUTLER,
Petitioner,
CERTIFICATE OF #2
- against - PROBABLE CAUSE

HAROLD J. SMITH, Superintendent, 76 Civ. 534
Attica Correctional Eacilitys

Respondent.

Upon reading all of the Papers heretofore filed
in this case, and upon this court's order of July 26, 1976,
denying petitioner Butler's application for a writ of
habeas corpus, ana upon this court's determination that

petitioner's application for reconsideration should {i:f

the court had jurisdiction) be denied, a certificate of

probable cause is hereby denied on the ground that no

substantial questions of law are presented -in this case.

Dated: New York, New York

September 14, 1976.

973

WHITMAN KNAPD P

SEP 161
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FORMA PAUPERIS AFFIDAVIT

(see instructions, page 1 of this form
(make a general statement explaining your financial status
andiwhy Sou are unable to pay the costs of prosecuting this
action,

Z have. Leen (?«‘Slw\fza\f' cheves
o and onalde d» scauice. Yoe xand :? ey -
kg,n‘f & talked Yo OOJI osod WL’\%{:Q‘_TA—_‘;\Y(%Q_‘_

e, Zoawm %P\(\m&% Coor3ts astisteute.

STATE OF NEW YORK
ss
COUNTY OF X

o e
el 2
ﬁ I Wman D ;H -
AR RIRTaE il I_,/being first sworn under oath,
presents that he has subscribed to the above and does state that

the information therein is true and correct to the best of his
knowledge and belief.

Signature of Petitioner

SUBSCRIBED and BWORN TO before me this

@wﬂnﬂw

Notary Public

My commission expires
3 3o T
(month) (day) (year)

(10 of 11)




ng Guly SVoTDy

Sy, sbet onothe ~[1-da¥ OF - o y

B BEOATRU

1976, o served the witiin FiE TTORAS 2PLY

ou Unitcd States Distriet Court Judge WHITLAR KNPl pistrict

ALt

o 4rue copy thexeof in & securcly sealed postase paid

regulerly

siting the saue in & POET office box

Attica Corre ctionel

ten Gove nment &

Hew York 14011 divected %o

Tox 148, Attica,

Dictrict Attorne ‘,"f
et

155 Leonsxd
Tew Yoxl, Nev
10013

within the state designated by thex for thot

purposeon the proceding papers in this ections
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Fetitioner,

~cgeinst-

by do oldibs, endent,
Attice Correctioncl Iccility,
hespondent.
Stete of hew York )
County of Vyoming )

HLELY iGunalblan 10
RuoPOhULLLYS &

CF LAkCH, 1976

Iro &

76 Civ. 0534 (jwm)

iU,

LIGT Y STadn.c il

On ierch 10, 1965 & lev York County Gr

count indictment egeinst the Petitione

on Lecember 6, 1965 (ualiLs, de, end & jury)e. The Petitioner cna others

were found guilty of lurder in the First legrce on iarck

on April 14, 1966 Petitioner cnd other

onzent. On lsy 2z, 19

effirn

¢els uncnin

Dept 1968), and the Court of Ap

on April 16, 1969 (People v ki

1969 the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari (Heyer

put in & motion to the Supreme Court New York County re
trizl record to be furnished free of chorge to him, thil
never ruled on. Un Febru:ry 3rd, 1976 & rederzl Hzbeas Corpus Petition
wee filed in the United States Listrict Court of the Southern District

of Kew York. On March 3rd, 1976 the Petitioner served an affidavit for

nd others. ihe tricl co

were gentenced to liie i

d the judgzent of conviction (People v Hegen 29

ucly effirmed the

0, 1966 <

¢ the Appellcte Divieion, First Department

Judg

.2a 395 1969). un Gctober 27,
%/e/

Hegen et el v kew York, 396 U.S. 886. The petitioner on August Sth, 1975

questing the

entry of defsuit in the above cction (76 Civ, 0534) which by levw

ehould of been grented, but was not. Un March 10th, 1976 the proposed

poge 1

d Jury returncd a one

A.L.2G 931, 1st

otion wue
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order cnd supporting effidavit of Allen Alpert requesting & extension

of time until

rch 30, 1976 wae

put before the court, cnd en undigned

end undated order was received from the court grenting the extension

until lierch 30, 1976, On April 2nd, 1976 the Petitioner received the
aespondents brief vhich contzins 57 puges plus cppendix, with over

247 reiercnces to the record on eppeal. On April 12, 1976 the

Petitioner e e motion for en extension of time to receive the

complete record which is eix volumes under 420994 vhich wao the number

sssigned in the Court of Appecls. On lizy 10, 1976 e letter wes received
from Carolyn Sternchein lew clerk to Judge Knepp steting that FIVL
volumes of the record will be sent here to Attice Pricon to be uced Guring

the dcy ¢t the law librery but Volume SIX was never sent. In & letter

dated Junc 11, 1576 Judge Knepp quoted end mede part of the record

the requests in behalf of petitioner thet hove been received concerning

reteined counsel and enother extension of time wee received. On July

3rd, 1976 & motion

made to disi the writ of Hubess Corpus Vithout

Prcjudice because Attorneys erec involved in a cuse that will take some

weeks to conclude and the fact Volume SIX is still m:

ing. On July 13,

1976 & iemorcnaun tnd order was issucd in the ccse 76 Civ 534 by Judge

Whitmen knapp which denied petitioners motion to diemiss the petition

without prejudice. The order by Judge K

p stetes thut petitioner has
not "...proferred no meritorious recson for gronting the relief reques—
ted.

“ cnd that "...@llegetions of prejudice in -the court‘s cherge-

not heretofore made in the petition itself- ire not the proper subject

of & weply brief" cnd that “...this Court

erched in vain for eny
remarke which might erguably be considered prejudiciel in that pert of
the cherge contained in Volume v1."

The firet conclusion of the court thut petitioner has not
proferred no meritorious reeson for grenting the relief requested ie

aisputed by the fact assistence of counsel is e basic guarentee in this




country. This point was mede pert of the record end was the pivot point
of motion thet petitioner has reteined counsel now who cre involved in
enother cese and will teke petitioners cose ec soon es possible which
could be meny veeks or months from mow. This itself is
ground enougk & meritoric on to have grentea petitioners
motion. This prison wee the 3 in of enother disturbance on July
11th, 1976 where officers and prisoners were injured. The prison has
been cloged dovn since Sundey July 11th, 1976 #nd of thic dote Julyl?,
1976 the law librery hoe been closed 5o petitioner hes no accese to
incomplete record that are herc. What better meritorious reason is
there thon eceing the petitioner can not pro se have a full record to
review, have access to them beceuse of this shut down beccuse of this
nev riot, have counsel take over his cdse?
The next point this court mentions in denying
ion is thet ellegetions of prejudice in the courte cherge-not herctofore
in the petition i are not the proper subject of ¢ Keply brief.
It [beNc ered that & pric hes only a2 limited knowledge of
the lew, rules of procedure of & Federel Court. A denicl of due procecs
is evident if & point of relief is denied petitioner because of & rule
or procedure. 4 point in the petition is that the triel court rebuked
defense counsel's in the presence of 1@ deprived the defcnd-
tioned this in
VWhot rezson
could be put forth for not giving petitioner the complete six volumes?
One more volume would weigh to much -more then five? One more volume

couldn't fit in the box? Five is en 0dd number and it would be bad luck

to ship six because ite en cven number? Assistent District Attorney

Allen Alpert said not to give petitioner the six voiumes ? It is
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subnitted it is unheerd of in -

dern imericen Jurieprudence to deny

petitioner to borrow under strict conditions all six volumes of his

own 1

1 record, not just five. The difference of this one volume

meen the difference of life in pricon or frcedom.

The lest point this court givec is most interesting s " the

Court has secrched in vein for eny remerks which might ergucbly be

considered prejucéicicl in thet pert of the charge conta d in volume
vl * . Vhy Gid the court choose to keep this volume for its personcl
reading ? With 11 due respect given to the court it is subzitted oy
petitioner that it is for the petitioner to have the opportunity to re-
view this mysterious-elusive cix volume and coze to his ovn conclusions
ebout the contents of the volume., The court should not "help® et this
point ec it "may" influence its decision in the o se, The petitionecr

would like to "seerch " this volume for OTH.i

as well, not
liniting ite eecrch to the tricl coumts words about the defenmse coune
seles conduct which would be interesting to resd I'm sure, but ell

other words by the trial court thet would vertzin ta the other ints

raised in the petition.

For the ubove reasons

the petitioner requests this court to

reconsider ite determination of the duly 13, 1976 znd if thie

not

Pposeible, which agein could be possibly true according to procedure

in the Federul Courts, at least stipulcte the above is & key part
of thic record in this cese.

Accordingly, beceuse of thic order by the court dzted July
13, 1976, the petitioner has completed & pro ee unskilled reply brief
%o be put egainst one from & well run skillful District Attorney's Office
of Counsel. It is zcknovledged by the petitioner thet his limited
Imowledge and eccess to the lew library, the miseing eixth volume

end being up ageinst ¢ full-steffed District Attorney's Gificehas put
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thie petitioner et & cleur discdventage. But according to the courte

order this Reply Brief is submitted end meiled on July 13, 1976 at

Attica Correction Facilityso it can be processed here, moncy taken
out of priconers account for postege, end hopefully sent out of the
pricon by zuthorities to the post office in Attice Kiew York to be
delivered to thie court before July 22nd, 1976 as the court order

stoted it must be.

HISTOKY AND SVIDeHCo O THu CASL

Malcolm Little, &

50 know

lcolm x, died of multiple bullet

and shotgun pellet vounds ct epproximetely 3130 p.

« on February 21,
1965, 1r.2091-92, The assescination on Februcry 21, 1965 wee corefully
planned, All the previous public meetings eddressed by lelcoln vere
covered by lavge muabers of police Visible for all to see. 0n this day
there was a different procedure followed by the police. No wniformed

policemen vere visible, in fact Lewyer Chonce during the trial roslized
thie and brought it out on page 2450 but the judge von't ellow him +o

continie along these limes. On this day, instead of being visible, we

find officer Henry znd hisc partner hidden inside the building. They

were in welkie-talkie communication viith

police detail concealed

across the street in the hospital where I lcolm's body w

later taken.

Officer Henry seid he was told to notify the detail "if enything heppened
In charge of the deteil that day ia a Sgt. Deveney p. 1451, 2411,
4s lialcom x began to speak a disturbance sterted. There were muny

gusrds there thot day to protect iialcolm as he had been living with the

feer that someone would kill him as he spoke out about the American

political, economic, and social atmosphere. The guards were former

members of enother orgenization, and knew the defendante in this cage,




pece 6

It hes elveys been & question how Malcolm's guards could have let

ny well-knovn members of the other organization into the ballroom thet

efterncon, or &t the best, search them, It ves highly unlikely that

eny member of the former orgenization was there thet dsy. But there

n essassin team there, end it reported police had film
of the incident., This film never got into the cese because it would
show that the defendants were not there thit afternoon. Ve find out
ebout this ascasein team 4f we put all the pieces together in the cese
end read the papers carefully. As the New York Times end the Herald

dribune reported two men were almost killed by the crowd. One was

identified as Telusdge Hayer, the other wes caught by a Patrol:

Loy end token to the Vadsworth Avenue station. The interesting point

is Patrolman iioy wes never celled to testify as to just who this

second man he rescued was, Also we find & Police Sergent “stending on
the corner® vien Folice Sergent Avonoff end Petrolmen Angelos happened
%o be driving by, vho it is found out lauter happened to be assigned

to not this precinct, but the edjoining precinct the 30th. These

policemen take kieyer evay. le can only speculate what would of

to the two =

if the engry crowd wes not stopped &t that time by these

two policesen driving by. Would they have been & member of the spocial

police deteil, a police egent, or o member of Bose killed elong with
Heyer?

During thie time it must be pointed out that the
audience had panicked and terror affected meny people. Although the
District Attorney never expleins the smoke bomb Tr, 3156-57, 3176-78,

3228, we find that someone threw 2 smoke bomb towerd the rear of the
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suditorium, This

anyone can see &5 & fourth person in the plot. The

District Attorney can never cxplein th

@s he hes three people purt-
icipating, not four. 4s this confusion continued the bewildered people

ran, fell on the floor, end tried to suve their lives as

ing into this crowd. s fer ec identificction is concerned, t

befuddled people couldn't reslly be e

ccted to be of eny help in this
erca. hs the tricl record discloscs they werc not and no one reclly

cen identify enyone but Hayer who

outside, It must be remembered that

in this crowd therec were severel undcrcover pleinclothes policemen

The defendents Butler end Johnson denied guilt end introduced
evidence of cn alibi. keyer teetified confessing guilt cnd cxonercting
his co-defendents Tr 3144-51

‘the prosecution celled Koneld fimberlake who

&g in feer to

testiiy in open court

“threats heve been mede on hie life" 1273-74,

Timberleke said he received telephone cells, The court esked vho t

were ? Yimberleke said he didn't know Tr 12

+ He firs

cc om fellow

but now he says the were over the telephone.

After & lenchtly discusoion bety

en the court, Timberlake, his counsel,

the prosccutor then s

sted thet the courtroom be cleorcd of ell spec—
tators in the interest of justice Tr 1285, & suggestion opposed by cou-

nsel for all three defendente Tr 1287. The court ordered totsl exclus—

ion Tr 1298, in the court ordered total exclusion during th

€

ony of ¥.B.I. ¢gent John Gulliven Tr 1768-72.

The opening stetement by t

prosccutor

prejudicial to
the defendents &s he used the defendents religion ageinst them. The
defense counsel objected trl70, The courty overruled ell objections

end denied motione to strike end for a mistrisl.




The trizl judge £11 through this triel rebuk ed defense

counsel's for one thing or enother. To just cite & few, Tr 759 where

Judge asks counsel to vitness to tell elevitor operctor. Agein

vhen counsel asked for « chort rec

the judge every time e

paper is ofiered there is a recess Tr 1168-69. Another time the judge

1d he would discuss counsels conduct at the close of the trizl, Tr

3637-38. Once the judge called them "children", Tr.2832 liu:

ul

comncnts appesrr on the following pages: 219, 575, 580, 612, 690,

857, 998, 1023, 1122, 1154-55, 1172, 1246, 1533, 1729, 1752, 1874, 1909,
1915,

56, 2036, 2113; 2300-01, 2362, 2646-49, 2703, 2796, 2798,

2605-11, 2819, 2831, 2858, 3126, 3362-64, 3415, 3458, 3560, 3562, 3808,

3609, 3394, 3402, 3140, 4017. * (It must be noted thi comaent

comes in the j

soc chorge which the petitioner never hed. )

court denied

iotions for access to grand jury minutes,

for = list of the peoples witnesses 1rT. 64-70, 108, 179-80, 285-86,

643-44. Also denicd were list of the wi

interviewed by policc

Q' for grend Jury te ony end detectives rcports of those vitness

’
Tr. 180-63. The courts interpretztion of the law of crimin: 1 diccovery

WES error.

POILT OLb

THL LXCLUSION OF ALL 5. TATORS ARD MLMBLRS OF Thi

PRLSS DUXING THL ToSIIMONY OF PROSECUTION WITRLSSES
TIMBERLAKL AND SULLIVAN DEPKIVED The ULFLNDARLS Ok
THLIK STATUTORY ARD CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT 10 A PUBLIC
TRIAL
In this case the trial court violated the right of the defendents

to have & public triel, a right guerentecd by common lew, by statute,
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and by the New York e¢nd United States Constitutions. The reasvns
end guarantecs to the right to = public trial arc found in Article
one scction one of the New York Constitution, which is identicel to
Article X111 of the 1777 Constitution end speaks in the lengunge of
the licgne Corte to guirantee $het no one shell be condemned but

wby the lew of ihe lend, or the judgment of his peers.® IN in OLIVLE,

1

ht to a

333 U.S. 257, 276 (1948) holus the r public trizl & pert of

" the law of the lund.”

In CURKEK V. LODISIAR:, 379 U.S. 466 (1965) the court noted

that % in the constitutionsl eense, trizl by jury in & criminel

cese necesscrily implies et the very lesst thet the 'evidence devel-

oped' against a defendent ehsll come from the witnesc stend in a

PUSLIC COUKTUOs where there is full judicisl protection of the

defendant's right of confrontetion, cross-examination, end of counsel,"
379 U.S. &t 472-T3 .
In enother leading ccse, PLOPLL V JLlK., 308 N.Y.56 (1954) the

right to & puolic triel was clearly defined and pointed out the

right is precisely the gaality vhich hos ceused other Sixth Amendment

provisions to applied to the states L.g. PUIRIER V 2uXa5, 380 U.S.

400 (1965)3 LOUGLAS V ALABAIis, 380 U.S. 415 (1965)s GIDECN V VAIN

372 U.S. 335 (1962). The court in JLIEL saids

"0f uncertedn origin, but nevertheless firuly
rooted in the comion lew, the right to & public
1 hes long been e
of the defendent in & criminel prosecution"

In this

Timberleke hed no right to refuse to testify even

if he belicved in good feith thet it micht en s life, In the
case of PILUONTL V UNITLD STATLS, 276 F.2d 148, 150 (7th Cir. 1960),
the court, noting the district courts determination thzt a refusal
to testify hed actuslly becn based on fecr, effirmed & judement of
contempt, saying:
#(7)he District Court wee on solid ground in holding
that feer of the underworld reteliation is no

reason to excuee the appellant from his obligation
to testify under & complete grent of immunity."
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In URITul SYATLS V LAVIS, 247 Fed. 394 (8th Cir, 1917),the

record shoved some disorderly incidents outside the courtroo:

&nd
considereble ill-will on the part of the defendants cnd their friends
egeinst some of the prosecution witnessesy the triel court excluded

ber

most spectztors but permitted rclutives of the defends nte,

of the bar end the prees to remsin. The court of cele nonctheles

reversed the conviction for deniel of =

ic trial &

ings

the courtroon
ht have been

t thing to exclude
their conduct

In ihe case of PLUPLL V LVLLU, iICHARD, 369 L.Y.5.2d 162, App.

Div. lst ept. (6-12-75), uncnim

usly reversed the judgacnt on the lev

actter of discretion in the interest of

stice on the iscue
of the right to & public tricl, fThe court szids

" ioreover we belicve reversible error
vhen the court excluded the public dux
testimony of the undercover officer bec

imilar ectivities in the
"General Arec e £ind no "Unucu:
presented in the inst: sufticient to
the viloation of defendent's general richt to
@ public triul.

commited
the

ce he was still

unstences
netion

The court's in other states heve held the

ntel rifht. In the casc of STAT.L V SCH.

(Minneso the court das

"ucfmu_m is entitled to new %
pr ce vhere triel judge uncons
SRR S LR R s

ithout chowing
tutionally

The beneficizl effects of public presence &t & tricl in general
ia en ancient tradition end this benefit cannot be teken awey from

the defendant in this cese by the total exclusion of the public. The

court had allredy tuken all the necessary security measur 211 the

’
spectutors were searched and extra court personell werc on duty to

sec that ell security measures were corried oute A mcjor principle
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of & public tricl wes sacrificed by the courte exclusion of the public
thus meking the proceeding e secret “stur chamber " procecding which
made toe Gefendent suffer overvhelming prejudice vhich mede it impose-
ible for him to receive e feir trial, The damege to the jury's ettitude
egainst the defendent vas predicated by this czelusion. The jury's
attitude against the defendents vas Guazged beyond repeir . They found
thenselves in & serious dangerous position beceuse of thie ceclusion
end it overvhelued them into AT THAT PUINT judging the deiendents guilty
before all the evidence wes in.
POINT 11

Thu Ju: VLS INFLULKCED BY Thi IiPaOPu iLCLIPT OF

LVIDENCL GHE DuFENDANT 'S RELIGIOUS BLLILES VHICH

Va3 INTHODUCED IN OxusR 10 SHOW A 0TIV FOR TH. LURDER

THIS WAS LRAONZOUSLY ADUISYED AND TBRULD 10 INFLaus

THe JUAY AKD PRLJUDICs THL LsFENDANT'S uI

In the opening statement by the procecutor he used the defe
religion eguinet them and this wee the prin throughout
the trial. The prosecutor's conduct und the trisl court's statements
violuted the rule laid dovm by the Court of ippeals in TOOLLY V FAlLLY

2 N.Y.2a@ 71, 82 (1956)3

"In £ll but the rarest of cases,
faith end observances of & party
entirely irrelevent to the
their intjection into o tri
constitutes eeversible error..

In TOOKLY the Court of Appe=ls cited both crimin=1 :nd civil cases decl-
ing with the misuse of a party's or witness's race, nationality or re-
ligion. In the civil case of ABBATL V SOLAN LT AL, 257 A.D. 776, 15 N,

Y.S.2d 33, questions clearly intended to diescrdit pleintiff and her
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vitness with the jury because of their nutionelity led to the judgment

being reversed on the law &nd & new tricl grented., The court held:

"sven if done in good faith, it wus an eppea:
to prejudice without eny foundetion therefor end,
real of the judeme
grmore on evidence, 2d ed. sce, 9373 Zobel o
els, 180 n,). 231, 176 K.Y.5. 5373 Skuy v
U.... 8 Cir.261 I 316j Couuonweslth v Kesules 246
iless. 564, 141 N.E. 584; Yee Chung v U 9 cir
243 F, 126."

4lonz the same linc of cases is PLOPLL V HLAKNS,18 4.D.2d 922 (1963),

283 N.Y.S.2a 173, the prosecutor in hic sumusition stressed thet two

of the principsl witness, nzmely, & police ofificer end & corrcction

officer, had testificd egainst the defendent despite the fect that

such officers werc of the scue color or race as tic defendent. The

court reversed on the lew end & nev triel ordercd as it eaids
"In our opinion such ¢ plea to the jury, base

on color and race no matter how ertiully pReaed)
constitutes en appecl to prejudice and o

it violates every basic concept of o foi

and it vitiates the re j

ommonwezlth v K zulz:,, 246
584; innotation, 45 £

enels, 188 A.D., 231, 17 «S. 537; 2 Vigmore
on kvidence (3ded.) sec. 337 )"

The prosecutor in this case with his comments ebout the defendants

Bleck m Beliefe had the effect of inference t¢nd the jury did

infer collective guilt of the Black iuslime to defendents denied them

of a feir trial. In PLOPL: V CAUTLLLANO, 273 A.D. 978, 78 N.Y.S.2d 356,

the prosccutoc deprived the defendent of & feir tricl by the cdverse
and improper comments during the course of suwmm:

tion upon the race
of the decessed and defendant. In reversing his second degrece murder
conviction the court helds
"...defendant was deprived of & fair triel

Melinski v People of the Stete of New York 324
U.S. 401, 65 Sct 781, 89 L.kd 1029; People Vv
Esposito’ 224 N.Y. 370, 373, 121 N.E. 344, 3453
Abbate v Solan 257 A.D. 776, 15 N.Y.5.2d 332y
Seunders v Champlain Bus Corp, 263 A.D. 683."
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In the same line of cases the Court of Appecle hac recognized in

PLUFLL V AGiON, 10 N.Y.2d 130, cert. denied 368 U.5. 922 (1961),

ity purcly for the pur-

pernitted discussion of race, creed or ntio

posc of identificution, @nd with eppropriatc ccutionary instructions

by the tricl judge. Lven in this c vrotes
"ilile 1t would undoubtecly h-ve becn better

10 have avoided refer: es to defendants
netionelity or encestry where ct all possible..,"

The above cese points out the very nurrowely defined limits a
prosecutor hes end & reading of the petitioners minutes will prove

the prosecutor in the instent case did ebuse hic discretion ot

£ caee to have

every chunce Le got. It would of been possible in th:

a complete tricl without testimonicl reference to the previous
common associations of welcolm X, fThe men Lclcolm vas killed, not
the associctions he did or did not belong to. Lvidence of the

defendonts active membership in e religious group o the coees cited

ebove point out, ere not proper evidence to be considercd by the

Jury.

POINT THRLE
Tie TRIAL COURT BY REBUKING LEFLNSE COGUNSLL IK
Thr PHESLNCE OF YHL JUAY, LuPIVED THL DuFLRUAKT
O AN IMPARTIAL TRIaL.

al judge vebukes defense counsel in the

thencver & ir:

presence of the jury, the jury is led ineluctebly to discredit the
defendant's case. In the skillful kespondents Bricf, he saye there
are only two examples of the judge rebuking defense counsel, but
there ere so many it scemed it was not necessary to fi1l a brief with
them, To point to & few, I submit the following pagess 1185 1555

1855 1903 2493 5743 6133 6305 6903 17533 33643 3638; 380833837;

38575 3890; 3910.



A jury must not be permitted to hear comments from the court., In
SMITH V STaTl, 12 Okle, Crim. 513, 159 Pec. 941, 944 the court helds
"(2)o reprimend counsel for a defendant in the
1,

presence of chly prejudiciel, If
1 court must
excuse the jury before admin ns & rebuke,
or threatening to fine or igon him for contempt.®
In the case of S V ULISLY STATES,153 U.S. 614, 626 (1894). the

court helds

it ic obvious under eny sy of jury triecl,
e influence of the trizl judge o ‘\,lh ju;y is

i that
io received with
deference end nmcy be contralling.®
In PLOPLL V KuPRikt, 267 A 838, 46 N.Y.5.2d 111, (1944) defendants
ercd and eabarrasced. The court in reversing the
ordering & new trial stated:
" had defend: 11, the evidence
if credited, wo conviction,
Here his rights to h a hes been infringed
not in respect oi m icelities but in
) 2t ered and
ong the seme line of cascs ie
Y.5.2d 210, (1948), where the judgment vas reversed end & mew tricl
wes ordered. The court helds

“,..its dispareging remarks directed to defendento

tricl suould be hed before amother
According to respondents brief there are 4, 414 pog in the record
which petitioner wac ellowed to see only the first 3, 900 or so, and
if they are an example of the complete record-it is plain to sce
petitioner was denied & fair trial. The first of the record reeks
of ineppropriate behavior by the trizl judse. Defense counsels were
treated in a disgraceful, discreditable way end this deprived the

defendants of a fair end impartisl tri




POIRT FOUR

Lefendant Butler moved before tricl for access
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THL DEFLNDARTS WilRi BRLIITLLb 10 & LIST OF THo WITRESSLS
VHO APPEARLY BEFURE THL GHAND JURY, 4 LIST OF THu
VWITNESSES INTERDwD T0 Bu CALLLy BY THu PEOPLL, A LIST

THi PULICL IN

OF TiB wITILSBES IRTLRVILELD

COLLEVEION WITH THIS CAcL, 41D THe DuTuCTIVE KEPORIS

Ol POLICL IRLbAVILWG.

minutess for a list of the peoples witneseesy for & list of those

interviewed by the police; for grand jury

reports of

a point 12

stimony cnd detectives

thosc witnesses. All these motions denied, But at

days beifore defendents were to begin there pert of the

case the judge and prosecutor reelizing that the were meking

reversable

e justure much to late for the proper preparation of & ci

error, geve the list of witnesses over to the defensc—

In

PLOPLL V IILLuk, 42 Misc. 2d 794, 796-97 (1364) the cowrt held:

In the

MILLER, £upre, w

:dequate opportunity,
idence.¥

¢ of PLOPLL V FASSAR, 301 F.Y.S.2d 678(1969) the rule in

followed vhen the court saids

"Ihe concept of feirness inkerent in due proce;
imposes e duty upon the prosecution to eppri

accused,
(People v Fein, 18 K.Y,2d 1QL, 7o 212 NS TR S
753, 759, 219 N.E.2d 274, 278 (1966). In this
Court's view those 'specie i
here#*#, " People v Chambers, 56 I
289 N.Y.S.2d 804, 808 (supreme Court, Oneide County
1968, Cerdamone, J.)
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In Respondents brief he says that petitioner doeen't claim thet he
suffered eny harm, nor is there any clsinm that enyone on cny of the
lists possessed information beneficicl to any of the defendents. It

s & point is enough to

is submitted the mere fect petitioner alle

sed in' & constituti vy AS Tur @s the 1ists

infer he has becn he

the clves the District Attorney wins the point for petitioner es

2 eny of the lists poss-—

he states therc wes no cloim the

nformotion beneficiel to any d " -nsturelly the whole

point is thet defendents did KOT IAVL TIIE to check tl

So it

8 1.

properly cs they were in the surprise

but & fact tozt Respondents be this point for the petitioner.

The & el judge conetituted an exercise of judicicl

discredion that geve rise to constitutionsl violations.

corpus cuould be grented.

The petition for & writ of habe

JULY 1y, 1376

Lttica, liew York

14011




State of New York )
ss.1
County of Wyoming )

MARTIN FITZPATRICK , being duly sworn,

deposes and says, that on the day of , 1976, he served

the within NOTICE OF APPEAL /ND CERTIFICATE OF FROBAPLE CAUSE

on United States District Court Judge Whitman Knapp; District Attorney
Allen Alpert; United States Court of Appeals; New York State Attorney
General .

by enclosing a true copy thereof in a securely sealed postage paid
wrapper and depositing the same in a post office box regularly

maintained by the United States Government at Attica Correctional

Facility Box 149, Attica, New York 14011 directed to sald:

United States District Court District Attorney
Chambers of

Judge Whitman Knapp

United States Cour thouse New York, New Yoo 10013
Foley Squar

Rew York, Tew York 10007

United States Court of Appeals New York State Attorney General
For the Second Circuit World Trade Center

U.S. Court House, Foley Square New York, New York 10047

New York, New York 10007

that being the address within the State designated by them for that

purpose on the proceding papers in this action.

Sworn to before me

ne /& day of ﬂ(/f , 1976
RSy

DANIEL J. CORP.
i, Sate of iew Yot

e s 10,0,




URITED STATSS DLSTRICT COURT
SOUTHEAN DISTRICT IF KE« YORK

ROTICE OF AFPEAL

U.S.A., ex rel, NORMAN BUTLIR,
: Civ. 76 Civ 0534 (K)

Appellant,

B
—vs-

b

HAROLD J . SWITH, SUPERINTCKDENT,
Attica Correctional facility, s
Respondent. :

Notice is hereby given that KORMAN BUTLER, appellant
above nated, hereby appeals to the United States Court of Apreals
for the Second Circuit from the order denying his application

for a writ of habeas corpus entered in this action on July 26, 1976.

Dated August 9y 1976

1 S } L\~L(7L it

M AN BUTLER
on 9
Attica, New York
4011




UNITED STATsS DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHEAN DISTRICT IF NE« YORK

: NOTICE OF APPEAL
U.S.A., ex rel. AN BUTLER,
3 Civ. 76 Civ 053+ (JK)
Appellant,
s
—vs-
:
HAROLD J. SMITH, SUPERINTGNDERT,
Attica Correctional facility, 3
Respondent. :

Notice is hereby given that NORMAN BUTLER, appellant
above named, hereby appeals to the United States Court of ippeals
for the Second Circuit from the order denying his application

for a writ of habeas corpus entered in this action on July 26, 1976.

Dated August 9, 1976

&WG\M % ('5 £ TE

NORMAN BUTLER
Box 149 £2%091
Attica, New York
14011




URITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YOiK

NOKMAN BUTLER, NOTICE OF MOTION
b
Petitioner, FOR
-against- REARGUMENT AND
:
H/ROLD J . SMITH, Superintendent, RECONSIDERATION
Attica Correctional Facility, :
Pro Se
Respondent, s

76 Civ, 0534+ (JK)
State of New York )

County of Wyoming )

NOTICE is hereby given that the attached motion will

come on for hearing before this Court at C o'clock,

A N » 19, under the provisions of Rule of the

Court,

Appellant Pro Se




UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHEAN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
AFFIDAVIT IN SUFPORT

NORM AN BUTLER, 3 OF MOTION FOR
Petitioner, s REAGUMENT AND
-against- : RECONSIDER ATION
HAROLD J. SMITH, Superintendent, 3 Pro Se

Attica Correctional Facility,
3 76 Civ. 053+ (JK)
Respondent .

State of New York 0
County of Wyoming ) ot
NORMAN BUTLER, being duly sworn, deposed and saysj

1. That he is the Petitioner in the above action.

2. Op February 3re, 1976 a Federal labeas Corpus Petition was
filed in the United States District Court of the Southern District
of New York.

3. On Jyly 3rd Petitioner sent a motion to Dismiss the Writ of

Habeas Corpus Without prefudice for many reasons some of which were:
(a). that volume six (6) of the record is missing.
(b). that in the order dated June 11, 1976 Judge Knapp quoted and
made part of the record the requests in behzlf of petitioner that
have been received concerning retained counsel. The counsel sald
they nceded time because they were working on another case.

(c). That the missing sixth volume of the record contained the
judges charge and as the record and points in the writ show this judge
was a prejudiced party in this action which denied the Petitioner a
fair trial.

). That in an order dated July 13, 1976 Judge Knapp denied the
motion for dismissal without prejudice and ordered ell reply's due
by July 22, 1976 "the matter will be considered fully sutmitted as

of that date.




page two (2)

5. On July 19, 1976 the petitioner had notarized his Reply

Memorandun and handed it to the department in charge of mailing. On

July 20, 1976 a certified Mail slip # 612526 form 3800 was issued

and the same is put forth as an exhibit for this motion,

6. On July 22, 1976 the certified mail # 612526 vas received and
signed for by Judge Whitman Knapp, this is made part of this motion
by being attached as an exhibit.

7. On July 26, 1976 a nine page orderwith footnotes was issued
which denied the petitioners writ.

8.In #1 of Lhe footnotes the following is found:

It is perhaps necessary also at this point to outline
the history of the instant proceeding as petitioner
ér; Llisﬂﬂeuly brief questioned the good faith of the

The point is that the court failed and continues to fail to make
part of the record that retained counsel requested the time and they
pointed out that a motion to Dismiss the Writ would be best as the
case they are working on would be a lenghtly one. This shows where
the "good faith " of the court is.

9. The request of this motion is to have this court consider the
entire petition and ALL the moving papers and to rcconsider its
decision and make part of the record that this court did consider
the request for retained counsel.

10. That this petitioner prays this court grant this motion for
extrnsionxnfxtime:ioxreeeixrxthe complete consideration from this
court to reconsider its decision and mzke part of the record all the
moving vapers and for such other and just relief that this court

deems just and proper.,
Sworn to before ne

his day of r u g
éi ox 19 424091
= A Q Attica, New York

NOTAY FUBLIC 14011

oANIEL . conp
8y Pl Siteof New Yk

- -~an-u.nm._2 5
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1. The following service is requested (check one).
Show to whom and date delivered......
[ Show to whom, date, & address of delives
[ RESTRICTED DELIVERY.
Show to whom and date delivered...
[] RESTRICTED DELIVERY.
Show to whom, dats

arbie®dgstribed above.
3@@,\;@&@ O Authorized agest
> .
@

E
3
>
5







CLERK'S OFFICE
U. S. COURT OF APPEALS
UNITED STATES COURT HOUSE POSTAGE AND, FEES' PAID
UNITED STATES COURTS
FOLEY SQUARE
NEW YORK, N. Y. 10007

OFFICIAL BUSINESS
PENALTY FOR PRIVATE USE $300

Alan Alpert

Assistant District Attorney
155 Leonard Street

New York, N.Y. 10007




UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
Second Circuit
)
Circuit, held at the United States Court House, in the City of New York, on the

26th day of May , one thonsand nine hundred
and seventy-seven.

Norman Butler,

Avpellant,

Harold J. Smith,

Appellee.

Appellant
A motion having been made herein by Xebiox pro se for a certificate of probable
cause, for leave to proceed in forma pauperis, RxEGADEEIPTORCOEODECNITBIEOAN e

and
£ot The assigament of counsel ax

Upon consideration thereof, it is denied.

Ordered that said motion be and it hereby is

(L/Lpﬁtﬂ \%41 Bu
T 4

WF Dooling Denaher
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Willianr M. Runstler P oy
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ATTORNEY AT LAW !
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NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10003

District
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SBPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK : PART 30

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

2t
No. 871/65

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUT-

LER) and KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X

JOHNSON),

Defendants.
- - -x

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, That defendants wish to supplement
their notice of motion dated December 5, 1977,and served and filed
on December 6, 1977, praying for certain relief pursuant to §440.1L0,1,
subdivision (g), Criminal Procedure Law, to include therein the
failure of the People to notify said defendants prior to or during
the trial of this indictment that one of the men who appear in Def-

endants' Exhibits V, W, X and Y, formerly marked People's Exhibits

36, 37, 38 and 39 for identification, specifically the man alleged-

ly giving mouth-to-mouth resuscitation to the victim herein, was,
in fact, a police officer of the City of New York, namely one Gene
Roberts, apparently then a member of what is now referred to as
Intelligence Division of sald Police Department, and to include
statutory grounds contained in subdivisions 1(b), 1(f) and 1(h)

the said §440.10, Criminal Procedure Law, as a basis for the relief

sought in sald notice of motion.

Yours, ete.,

New York, N.Y.

December 8, 1977 WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER

853 Broadway
Criminal Motion Clerk New York, N.Y. 10003
District Attorney (212)674-3303




SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK :PART 30
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
-v- :  Ind. No. 871/65
MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUT
LER) and KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X
JOHNSON) ,

Defendants.

STATE OF NEW YORK

)
) ss,:
)

COUNTY OF NEW YORK

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER, being duly sworn, deposes and says:

1. I am the attorney for the defendants and I am making
this affidavit in support of their supplemental notice of motion
herein.

2, During the trial, eight photographs, which had been
marked Grand Jury Exhibits 1 through 8, were marked People's Ex-
hibits 31 through 38, for identification. TT, 1720~21. They were
offered into evddence as Defendants' Exhibits R through Y by the
attorney for defendant Hagah and so received. TT. 1721. In four
of these phbtographs a man is dépécted kneeling over the victim's
body on the stage of the Audubom Ballroom moments after the victim's
shooting, presumably giving him mouth-to-mouth resuscitation.TT.4258
though 4265,

3. During the cross-examination of Charles H. Blackwell,

a witness for the People, it developed that this witness had testi-
fiked before the Grand Jury that he had picked up a Luger after the

,ihooting, wrapped it in a jacket that he saw on the floor and handed




it to a "Brother Jean." TT. 1663. He further testified at the trial
that he did not know the identity of "Jean," TT. 1727, and that he
had been mistaken in stating that he had handed the Luger to that
person. TT. 1743. Instead, he said that he had tried to give "Jean"
the weapon but that the latter had told him to give it to someone
else and that he had then handed it to Ruben Francis. TT. 1744.

He also testified that he had "called Brother Jean" after having
picked up the weapon. TT. 1750.Later, he said that he had not been
*told anything by "Jean," but merely been waved away by the latter.
TT. 1756. "Jean" was the man allegedly giving re itapion, TT../1723

4. At all times, the People must have known and the police
certainly @1d know the identity of "Brother Jean" as well as the
fact that he was a police officer and this vital information was
never given to the defense but was, instead, deliberately withheld
from 1t.

5. This is particularly significant in that one of the de-
fenses asserted during the trial was that the authorities, and part-
icularyy the New York City Police Department, might have been involved
in the murder. See eg., summation on behalf of defendant Butler on
pp. 3725-26, Trial Transcript. To hide from the defendants the id-
entity of an eyewlitness who was an undercover police agent violates
every principle of fair play as well as all of the decisional law in
this mrea. It was done wildully and deliberately and undercut one

of the thrusts of the defense.

WILLIAM M., KUNSTLER

Sworn to before me this
Un

Aaw Af Nasamhan - 1077
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SUPREME COURT OF THE NEW' YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK
—— - -x
THE PEOPLE OF ATE OF NEW YORK
Ind. No. 871/65
MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUT-
LER) and KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X
JOHNSON) ,

ndants.

OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NE
being duly sworn, deposes
1. I am the attorney for defendants herein and
this affidavit in support of their motion, pursuant to §440.10, sub-
division 1(b), (f), (g) and (h), Criminal Procedure Law, for or-
ders vacating their judgments of conviction and dismissing the wi-=
thin indictment as to them or, in the alternative, grantin
new trials and other related relief.
2. In a previous affidavit, submitted herein on or about Dec-
8, 1977, in connection with a supplemental notice of motion
g the same date. I made reference to t that a "Brothen
who was on the platform of the Audubon Ballroom a security
guard at or about the time that Malcolm X was killed on February
21, 1965, was, in fact, an undercover agent of the Police Depart-
ment of the City of New York by the name of Gene Roberts and that
his true identity was never revealed to the defense during the wi-
thin trial. Since submitting said affidavit, I have obtained the

portion of the transcript of People of the State of New York v.

</
cur et al., Ind. No. 1848 1/2 - 1969, which refers to the said

{Roberts' testimony therein in which he admits that he was indeed
ki/ New York County




nd pla en | colm X was
of what happened thereat.
id transcript are attached hereto and made a part hereof as
hibit A.
who had been a pz >1lman February
d fully at the S ur trial

about what he termed "the truth about t sassination." Ibid.
Q. You are going to tell us the truth
to Malcolm X?

AT Y Cca

Q. And this is the truth that you obsersy

Did you testify at the trial of th

But you saw

But you didn
Didn't you want the truth to come out there?
Yes.
Why didn't you test
n'tcall

But you knew what h

you didn't




4. Prior to taking the stand in the Shakur trial, he t

informed by the prosecutor that "Mr. Lefcourt. . .or. . . somebod
im about Malcolm X. Exh. A

then told him "what really happened there." Ibid

He then proceeded to testify at great length as to

pened at the Audubon Ballroom on February

things, he said that he had been a member T first rostrum

urity ‘guard which had been'?r ved after speech one ‘Ben

i

min Goodman. Ib . at p. 5730. When Goodman finished, he had in-

troduced Malcolm X who then"approached the platform and gave the
Muslim greeting." Id. At that time, "two individuals near the
front of the auditorium jumped up, one hollering,
out of my pocket,' which time there was a
He had "started down the aisle where the commotion
he heard shots. He had s Elipe
and then run down the middle aisle of the auditorium.
5. _Roberts, after seeing Malcolm clutch hiscchest,
"one aisle", Id., arriving at the rear of the auditorium
y with the two men he had seen shoot at the victim. I

As one passed him, Roberts had "

abbed a chair,"
at p. 5731, when "[T]lhe 1ndividual who s subsequently

caught, named Hayer. . .", Id., looked in his direction and

"what looked like a .45. &M bs . Because Roberts

sidestepped, the bullet had missed his body but

He had then thrown the chair in his hand at

to the floor, but .the latter had gotten to hi




out'‘the front,! Id:,

arrived in the vicinit

Roberts had
he

to

He also tes

nization," Ibid.

"various mee

tings

tif:

at p.

at whic

y and t
ne

stom
stage of

mouth r

fied
)i

"

d.,

and that,

been "large contigents of

But

had not

standard apply

covered since the

produced by the

part" and must be "of

that had such evic

have been mor

that

favorable

af

ing

entry

defen

such a

been rec

at which

night

ternoon there

to the

h another securi

taken "a shot

out
pin
ballroom

the where

esuscitation,” Id.

there and
a
323 for

the vi
such

occea: fppi:

uniformed
there

were none,

few

fhe

to

a

to creat

ved

the trial the

defendant .

took him

of

or

guard had

ove

"Malcolm's
spoken at
to ti

police

right?

on the side.

out

around" on the

a probab

verdict would

subdivision




Criminal Proc

of soul

standard hardly

Mr. Hagan had

to these defendant:

the very lea

The new ev nti

sta variety

e of his identi orived movants pot-
itness who (a) observed the assassination and the event

1y succeedi (b) could have

would have added substance to the

murder of Malc 1 X was brought a

and other

of

given the former at

10. Furthermore, it makes very little difference

ormation. The only relev

not disclose it to the defense, even when req ted, and the




falls on the entire pro

failure to inform.

11. Just -a cursory read 1 tri transeni

the enormous extent of the dis ity between Roberts

ir and that given by many witnesses at the within

example, Cary Thomas, the People's first s ificant

udubon Ballroom, one man stood up "in the
"Man, what are you doing

This is in sharp contrast to

near the front of the auditorium jum

testified to knocking [ n down

' testimony ir

For

ness,

ified that, just as Malcolm X began to address t audience at

"two individuals

shot at by him, counsel es r J 2 other trial wit-

so stating. Sha . . In this connection,
of Vernal Temple, Edward De Pina, George Whitne

John Davis, Ronald Timberlake,
12. Moreover, Roberts' testimony that, although
contingents of uniformed police" at

the ballroom,

ially buttre

involved in the assassination. In th connection,

testimony of Patrolman Gilbert Henry that he had been

the Rose Room at the Audubon Ballroom at the time of

Y >

th

all

cest
concealed in

the Malcolm X




meeting with another officer, Patrolman John Car

tion of their superior officer, ant Deva

who had given them specific instructions "to remain where [they]

would not be seen." TT. 2442. At this e, Patrolman Henry had
a walki kie which "connected with another wal
the po si 4 in the Columbia
Qenter., ‘MT. 241N After hearing the, £irst
Henry had entered the main ballroom where he did not see
any other uniformed officers or recogni 3 tives. TT.2438.
13. It must be kept in mind that, at
in full swing, beginning in
cording t Bureau, until 1971.' Book IIT,
Select

e to Study Governmental Operat

Activities, United States

inafter sometimes referred to

One of the techn employed in this program
on of enmity or fact ism v ) al Black
pp. 40-54. Included within tt

third part
the then

Jokbids t<p. v/i% E: v the Hon.

or encou the murder of Malcolm X would

> absence of police on February doubly
of the fact that Malcol X been




have fitted the aforementioned COIN LPRO techniques to a T.
former Assi to the Director William C. Sullivan testified
were barred. N/t

pp. 97-98. of physical

harm to their targets is fully documented in the Church Committee
Report which concluded that "[W]hen the willi e to use tech-
niques which were concededly dangerous & armful to the targets
combined with the range of purposes and criteria by which these
en, the resul is neither 'within bounds' nor
tified' in a free society." Church Committee Report, at p. 9,
mony James B. Adal 11/19/75, Vol. 6, Hearings, pp. 73,
At the very least, defendants were entitled to the testimony
ive Roberts to buttre this claim and to
to suste it.
Interestingly enough, the FBI was involved in the
tion of the Malcolm X killing, despite the fact that it
in that agency's juris on. At
Sullivan testified that he had been contacted
another agent shortly after the assassination and that, follow
that conversation, he and another agent named Joseph T. Quigley had
gone to a Brooklyn addres here they had been shown one of the mur-
der weapons by a Ronald mberlake, one of the People's other wit-
People's Exhibit 12, a . cal. revolver, was taken
Sullivan. That evening, after Sullivan had telephoned the

ty Police Department, he was visited an inspector,

deputy inspector and sz ) s 'and, ‘afterca conversation, h

ad




t

in question. Sullivan h

ed the weapon over to the detecti

returned to Timberlake's home the next evening and had a further

conversation with-him ich'w terminated

ice officers arrived. reover, the

ohotographs from the Police Department

kaldied s s

the area

the identity o to a murder

a process of law that it is

of a more he tice would r

ous one. Fundamental ju

1

ing of a new tr ground alone. It is

of

fense never k

designation of "Brother Jean, he would

led if his identity had been made known to it. Even

did not know the identit

rtment certainly did and that it

tion to make it known, particular

inquired about it. S

17. For all of the above reasons,

riously filed and served affida

to the vacation of their judgm of conviction and the

of the indictment

to. them or, in the alternative, to a new

nti

in the further alternative, to an evi ary hearing to prove

its hereto-

in this and the other affida

fore




just and proper

Sworn to before

JOAN L WASHINGTOR
ate

tary Public, Siate of New York
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The securlty section?

Q And what was your particular assignment?

I can't remember, offhand.

[+3 To protect the speakers or anything like that?

I can't recall.

Q Who were the speakers?
A Ozzle Davis was one of the speakers. I can't
remember any of the others.

Q And it was the jJob of the security section to be
security at that neeting?
A Yes.

Q That was a memorial for Halcolm X?

Q And lalecdm X is a very important figure in
relation to the Black Panther Party, is he not?
A Yes.

Q 211 of these defendants, you've heard
talk of Malcolm X ,haven't you?
IS Yes.

Q How, after —-- now, you've attenced lots of

rallies and meetings while you were in the Black Panther

Party concerning Malcolm X?
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A I've attended lots of rallies, yes, not all
concerning Malcolm,

Q But there have been many concerning Malcolm?

~

Q VWere you ever asked to speak at one of those
memorials for Malcolm?
A Yes.

Q And you didn't, did you?

I didn't hear you.

Q You didn't speak?
A The one I was asked to speak at was back at -~ back
at 2026 Sevenuth Avenue. There I did speak.

Q You did speak at one, but you didn't speak at
another, is that your testimony?
A I didn't speak at the one at Cooper Junior High
School.

Q Oh, you were asked to speak that day?
A Yes. I didn't speak at that one, mainly because I
don't like talking in front of large groups. Arriving
back at 2026 Sevenuth Avenue I was asked by Afeni Shakur to
give a brief speech on Malcolm. Over there they had a PA
system set up, but then the office, they were playing a

lot of lalcolm's speeches, recorded speeches, and I gave

about a five-minute talk on what happened at i?e -- what
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happened there at the assassination of Malcolm.

(Continued on the next page.)
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BY MR. LEFCOURT?

Q You were there, weren't you?

At the assassination of Malcolm X?

Q Yes.

Yes, I was.

Q Did you help do 1t?

No, I did not.

Q You were his bodyguard that night, weren't you?

HME That afternoon, yes, I was.

Q And there were no other police around but you

there?

I really don't know.

Q You didn't see any, did you?

No.

& Isn't it a fact that you helped murder Malcolm
X?
A No, it isn't. But would you like to know the truth
about the assassination?

A. SHAKUR: Yes.

Q %e all would like to know the truth about the

assassination.
THE COURT: Counselor, you behave yourself.
MR. PHILLIPS: I think the admonition -- may

the witness answer the question?
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THE COURT: Does the counsel wish the question
to be answered?
A. SHAKUR: Yes.
MR. PHILLIPS: Yes; he said so.

BY MR. LEFCOURT:

Q You are poing to tell us the truth about what

happened to X¥ Malcolm X%
A Yes.

Q And this is the truth that you observed?
A Yes.

G Did you testify at the trial of YHEY three

people who were charged with the assassination?

A No.
Q But you saw i1t happen?
Yes.

Q But you didn't testify?

Q Didn't you want the truth to come out there?
Yes.

Q Why didn't you testify?

I wasn't called.

Q But you knew what happened?

Yes.

Q And yocu didn't testify?
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A No.
Q Isn't it a fact that during that trial two
Muslims were put on trial; do you recall that?
A Yes.

MR. PHILLIPS: Your Honor, there WFH¥ were three
defendants in that case. Hr. Lefcourt again has
everything confused.

MR. LEFCOURT: I don't have --

THE COURT: All right.PRoceed.

Q And the third one was not a Muslim, was he?
A I don't know whether he was or not. It was stated

that he had been in the Newark mosque. I dind't know

whether he was or wasn't.

Q NOw, you discussed this whole testimony with
Mr. Phillips about Malcolm X, haven't you?
A Yes.

Q And Mr. Phillips told you that there is a time
that Mr. Lefcourt is going to ask you about Malcolm X
or that somebody is going to ask you about him; isn't
that right?
A Yes.

Q And you are prepared to give us an answer, aren't
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Q And he 1s not objecting, he 1is?

No.

Q Does it have anything to do wfith your under-
cover work in the Black Panther Party?

A No.

Q But you ammm prepared this point, didn't you?
A The question was asked and I gave what I thought
was a suitable answer.

Q And EEMX didn't Mr. Phillips say, "Tell that
in court"?

A No.

Q Did you discuss your testimony about this subject

in court?
A About what subject?

Q About the assassination of Malcolm X.
A I don't quite understnd the question.

Q Well, with Mr. PHillips, didn't you plan what
your testimony was going to be concerning this matter?
A No.

[+3 But you told him what it was going to be if
you were ‘BSked?

A I only told him what really bappened there.

Q Okay. What happened?

A VWhen the meeting started, one of his lieutenants,
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Benjamin Goodman, was the first one to speak.

At the end of Benjamin Goodman's spee#ch, the
rostrum security was relieved. I had been on the first
rostrum security. So I proceeded to the back where we
met the security captain who told us to Just sit around
and in a half hour E you would be on post again.

At that time there was another group that was on
security. After Goodman finished his speedch, he introduced
Malcolm X.

Malcolm approached the platform and gave the XHE

Muslinm greeting, at which time two individuals near the

front of the auditoryium jJumped up, one hollering, "Get

your hand out of my pocket,” at which time there was
a small commotion.
I started down the aisle where the commotion was,

and the next thing I knew chairs were being overturned,

shots were being fired.

Two individuals were running past the front stage,
firing at lMalcolm and then proceeding down the middle
aisle of the ballrocyiom.

As I turned, I saw Malcolm grasp his chest. I didn't
see him fall. And I followed down one aisle, and by the
time I got to the back of the auditorium the two in-

dividuals that was in the middle aisle, we arrived at
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the same time.

One went by and at that particular time I grabbed a
chair. The individual who was subsequently caught, AHX#X
named Hayer , he locked in my direction and pointed his--
what looked like a .45, at which time I made a side step,
and as I stepped to the side he fired, the bullet missing
but hitting my —- hitting my Jacket.

I then threw the chair, knocking him down. After a
couple of seconds elapsed, I turend around, I saw the
same individual that I knocked down with the chair get-
ting to his feet and hobbling out the front, at which
time another member of Malcolm's security group came down
the far aisle and took a shot at the same individual.

I then turned, proceeded out the front door. I saw
a large group of people and they had an individual, kick-
ing and stomping him.

I came back into the ballroom, went to the stage
where I proceeded to give Malfcolm mouth to mouth re-
suscitation.

What appeared to be twenty minutes later that the

police finally got there and took him over to Medical

¥PH Center.
Q Now, you were in Malcolm's organization at the

time, were you not?
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Q And were you a police officer
Yes.

Q Patrolman or a detective?
Patrolman.

Q That was in 19652

February 21st?

[+ And you had been been at various meetings that
Malcolm spoke at, had you not?
A Yes.

Q At the MUBEHEM Audubon Ballroom where that
happened?
A Yes.

Q And every time prior to that night that he

spoke 1t was always large contigents of uniformed police

there, were there not?
A Yes.
Q But that night there was none, right?
A This afterncon there was only a few on the outside.
Q There was no uniformed police in five hundreds
like there usually was when he spoke?

THE COURT: Counselor, at this time we will
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Tecess for lunch, and I suggest-~

HMR. CRAIN: Your Honor, can the witness hm

Please answer the question mbefore we recess?

THE COURT: Fr. Crain, will you Please be
seated.

I suggest to counsel that when we resume we
do not try the Malcolm X case. This 1s a case in
which these defendants are on trial. I have permittdd
this deviation only because you asked the witness
whether he killed Malcolm X,

MR. LEFCOURT: I think 1t should be only be-
cause the witness ang Mr, Phlllips had agreed--

THE. COURT: Your sarcasm again, Mp. Lefcourt,
will -~

We w11l declare a luncheon recess.

The Jury i1s cautioned not to discuss the case
among yourselved or with anyone else. You are to
continue to maintain an open mind as to the guilt
or innocence of the accuased,

Should anyone approach you to discuss this
case, mplease avoid conversation. If he persists,
report the incident to the Court.,

You are in no way to discuss this case outside

of court. You are to refrain from all discussion
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of the case during the time you serve as jurors.

You are to continue to avold reading newspaper
accounts. You are to continue to avoid listening
to radio reports or viewing reports on television.

We will resume at two-fifteen.

[Whereupon, the jurors and the glternate jurors
leave the courtroom, and the following proceedings
take place:]

THE COURT: All right. The Court is in recess.

[Whreupon, there was a luncheon recess as

declared by the Court]

[Continued on next page]
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TRIAL CONTINUED

(A1l the defendants, thelr counsel and the
assistant district attorneys were present in the
courtroom.)

THE COURT: All right, have the Jury out.

(Whereupon the members of the jury enter the
courtroom and take their respective seats in the
Jury box.)

THE COURT: All right, we may resume.

MR. LEFCOURT: May I apologlze to those jurors
who sometimes only view my back because of of in-
advertence in walking up front?

DETECTIVE G ENE ROBERTS, previously sworn,
resumed the stand and testified further as follows:

CROSS-EXAMINATION (continued)

BY MR. LEFCOURT:

Q Now Detective Roberts, did you ever testify be-
fore any grand jury or investigating body concerning the
testimony you gave this morning about the assassination
of Malcolm X?

THE COURT: Counselor, I thought I suggested

and now I direct that we not go into the Malmolm X

case. That has nothing to do with the case on trial. i

MR. LEFCOURT: Your Honor, that was my last
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poxk point. That's all I Just wanted to ask that

question and move on to something else.

THE COURT: A1l right, manifestly there can be

good reasons for not using &8 witness in a trial.
hing that's relevant to

Now please get on with somet

the issues before the Court.

MR. LEFCOURT: Well, your HonoTr, may we have

Just that question answered?

THE COURT: No.

Q Now that morning that you went to the falcolm X

memorial at Cooper JT-. High School, do you recall what time

you woke up that morning?

A No.
Q Well, do you recall that the meeting, the mem—

orial was about 9.30 a.m. at the school?

A Yes.
Q And after that, later on in the day, you re—

turned to 2026, did you not?

A Yes.
sadou from the Na-

Q And at that time, you saw Mas
anther Party, did you not?

tional office of the Black P

A I think he was there at that time, yes-

Q And others were there?
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OF THE
{ YORK

COUNTY OF NEW YORK
WILLIAM C. CHANCE - i duly sworn, deposes and
1. I was the attorney for MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NOR
R), one of the movants herein, at his trial in 1966 on
indictment.
As such, I am convinced that there would have been
ferent result insofar as my then client was concerned had TH
of his co-defendants thereat, furnished the names of h
confederates in the assassination of Malcolm X as well as the full
details h Y X ition of the crime.

I did not know the identity of the "Brother Jean"
who was depicted ng mouth-to-mouth resuscitation to the sa
colm ¥, nor, I am sure, did any of my co-counsel in the case, even
though we had asked for such information before and duri

4. Furthermore, now that I know that "Brother Jea
undercover member of the New York City Police Department
Roberts and that he was an eyewitness to the assassination,
that his testimony on my defendant's behalf would have buttressed

his case by (1)contradicting many of the People's witnesses; (2)ex-

onerating my defendant; and (c)furnishing significant evidence that
g g




were deeply involved in
5. I am firmly convinced ti
officer was deliberately kept from in order to pre
it from producing highly relevant and material evidence
in my opinion, have probably changed the
to a more favorable one.
6. I believe that, given the existing s

herein are clearly entitled to a new

forth above.

sworn to before me this

7
3’ day of December, 19

Z OF NEW YORE
00

IN STONX qounTy
SSION EXPIES MARCS 30, 19 7 %




EME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YOR PART 30

AZIZ (NORMAN -3X BUT-
L ISLAM (THOMAS 15X

Defendants.

STATE OF NEW YORK )
)

COUNTY OF NEW YORK)

JOSEPH P. PINCKNEY, being duly sworn, deposes and sa

1. I was one of the attorneys for KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X
JOHNSON) at his trial on the within indictment. Charles Beavers,
my co-counsel, died some seven or SO years ago.

2. I have been informed by WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER, my ex-client's
present attorney, that THOMAS HAGAN, one of his co-defendants at
the trial, is now prepared to reveal the names of his confederat
in the assassination of Malcolm X and furnish the full details of
the planning and execution of the crime. I feel that, if Mr. Hagan
had been prepared to do this during the trial, it would probably
have resulted in a more favorable verdict insofar as Mr. Johnson
was concerned.

3% Mr. Kunstler has also informed me that the identity of

| "Brother Jean," a security guard who gave mouth-to-mouth resusci-

tation to Malcolm X after the latter was shot, is now known and

||
|
|

that he was, in fact, one Gene Roberts, an undercover police officer

of the City of New York. I am convinced that, had defense counsel




known this man's identity before or during the trial, he might well
have been called as a witness for one or more defendan
other things, he might have exonerated my client as well ex-
plained the strange absence of police security at the Audubon Ball-
room meeting of February 21, 1965. The withholding of his name,
clearly known to the authorities, deprived all defendants of an
eyewitness who might have been immeasurably helpful to them at the
trial.

It my professional t fef/ that, given the pre
lingness of Mr. Hagan to testify fully about his role and
his confederates in the assassination of Malcolm X, and the now known
identity of "Brother Jean," these defendants are clearly entitled

to a new trial under New York law.

Sworn to before me this

No. 31-03f
ualified in New York Count;
‘erm Expires March 30, 19}’
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wi”iom m. Lunsﬂcr
attorney of law
853 broadway
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ISUPREME COURT OF “THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK : PART 3
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

s 2 No. 871/65

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUTLER)
and KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X JOHNSON),

Defendants.

STATE OF NEW YORK )
COUNTY OF NEW YORK)

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER, being duly sworn, deposes and says:

1. I am the attorney for defendants herein and I am sub-
mitting this supplemental affidavit in support of their motion for
new trials pursuant to §440.10, Criminal Procedure Law.

2. On December 19, 1977, I served and filed an affidavit
supplemental to others previously served and filed by me in this
matter. In Y15 of said affidavit, I supplied information as to the
involvement of the Federal Bureau of Investigation in the investi-
gation of the assassination of Malcolm X. Since that time, other
information has come to light which, in my opinion, requires the
drafting of another supplemental affidavit in this case.

3. During the trial of the within indictment, both from
eyewitness testimony and ballistics evidence, it was clear that a

Luger had been used in the slaying of Malcolm X. As pointed out in

my affidavit of December 8, 1977, this gun was picked up by Charles|

H. Blackwell, wrapped in a jacket, and, according to his Grand Jury
testimony, then turned over to a "Brother Jean." TT. 1663, "Bro-
ther Jean" was later identified, long after the trial, as Gene Ro-

berts, a New York Police Department undercover agent. At the trial




owever, Blackwell said that his Grand Jury testimony was wrong and
hat he had handed the Luger to one Rueben Francis. TT. 1743-44.

4. Despite this fact and the additional one that Rueben
rancis had shot and wounded Hagan while the latter was attempting
o escape from the Audubon Ballroom after the shooting, he was never|
alled as a witness at the trial. Francis was arrested on the day of]
he assassination and indicted on March 10, 1965, for assaulting Ha-
gan and related charges. He was freed on bail two days later, bond
fhaving been set at $10,000.00. When he didn't appear in court on
May 25, 1965, an order of forfeiture was entered three days later.

5. On or about February 2, 1966, while the trial of this
ndictment was in progress, Francis voluntarily surrendered himself
o the Federal Bureau of Investigation. It might be pointed out tha
t the time of Francis' surrender, the People were still presenting
heir case, yet he was not called to testify. On information and
elief, no notice was given to the defense that Francis was now avai
ble.

6. It should be kept in mind that one witness who was cal-

fled by the People, namely Ronald Timberlake, was permitted to

[testify in a closed courtroom from which all spectators and the news|
had

edia were excluded. TT. 1289. It was Timberlake who/removed the
45 caliber pistol attributed to Hagan from the Audubon Ballroom ,
aken it to his home, "broke the gun down. . . inspected the chamber
. . took the bullets out of the clip." TT. 1318. He had then calle|
ot the New York City Police Department, but the FBI. TT. 1323. Whe
he agents arrived at his home, he gave them the weapon and "[T]hey

arked it, tagged it and slipped it in a bag." TT. 1325.

EoN




7. All of the above information is contained in
either the trial transcript or in the file of People v. Frances,
Ind. No. 873/65, New York County.

WHEREFORE, defendants repeat their prayers as set forth

in the Notice of Motion and papers submitted subsequent thereto.

LLIAM M.

Sworn to before me this

day of January, 1978

NOTARY PUBLIC
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